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Abstract
There is a widespread notion that archives, especially national archival institutions, 
represent the nation’s memory. Historically, archives have played an important role 
for history writing, thereby contributing to the construction of national master nar-
ratives and the strengthening of national identities. What the association between 
archives and memory actually means is however debated in archival literature. Tak-
ing the discussion on the relation between archives and memory as a starting point, 
this study examines how national archives in today’s world present themselves to the 
public. The source material consists of mission statements collected from 138 web-
pages and 18 Facebook accounts all over the world. The first research question con-
cerns the connection between mission statements and a national master narrative, 
the second asks where references to national memory and national identity are most 
pronounced, and the third asks whether self-images of national archives can be con-
nected to historical experiences. The analysis shows that mission statements contain 
many allusions to history and heritage, while references to memory and identity are 
less widespread than expected. Some variations between continents, and between 
different groups of countries are identified, although relatively small. A possible 
explanation is that national archives are engaged in quite a lot of international coop-
eration, for instance in the International Council on Archives and UNESCO. Thus, 
they are likely to be as much influenced by each other as by the political environ-
ment in their own countries.
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Introduction

We are the custodian of the nation’s memory; acquiring, preserving and mak-
ing accessible Government records that document our nation’s proud history 
(National Archives of Saint Kitts and Nevis 2022).

This quote succinctly summarizes a common frame of thought concerning the 
role of archives in society. UNESCO’s Memory of the World Programme makes a 
similar connection between archives and memory, although on a global scale:

1.1.1 The Memory of the World is the documented, collective memory of the 
peoples of the world—their documentary heritage—which in turn represents 
a large proportion of the world’s cultural heritage. It charts the evolution of 
thought, discovery and achievement of human society. It is the legacy of the 
past to the world community of the present and the future (Memory of the 
World 2002, bold in original).

The association between archives and memory is also very clearly expressed by 
the International Council on Archives:

Archives constitute the memory of nations and societies, shape their iden-
tity, and are a cornerstone of the information society. By providing evidence 
of human actions and transactions, archives support administration and under-
lie the rights of individuals, organisations and states. By guaranteeing citi-
zens’ rights of access to official information and to knowledge of their history, 
archives are fundamental to identity, democracy, accountability and good gov-
ernance (International Council on Archives 2022, bold in original).

The notion that archives, especially national archival institutions, represent the 
nation’s memory has its roots in nineteenth-century Europe. Historical research has 
shown the role that archives and other “memory institutions” such as national muse-
ums and libraries played for nation-building projects during the formative period of 
the nineteenth and early twentieth centuries. In both established and newly founded 
nation states, the purpose of history writing was to construct a national master nar-
rative in order to legitimize the state and strengthen the national identity. This narra-
tive connected the nation’s present to its mythical origin and defined its most impor-
tant events, historical persons, and enemies and was intended to build on primary 
sources, preferably stored in an impressive building in the capital (Berger 2013; 
Thijs 2008; Brown and Davis-Brown 1998). Ideas about the connection between 
history writing and national identity formation then spread across the globe, not 
least among colonized peoples in their struggles against European colonial pow-
ers (Berger 2015). John R. Gillis has put it eloquently: “New nations as well as old 
states require ancient pasts” (Gillis 1994, p 9).

Nation-building processes and national master narratives remain, for better 
or worse, most relevant in the contemporary world, although with variations. For 
instance, national archival institutions in former colonies have other conditions than 
those in Europe. The archives were created by the colonizers, served their purposes, 
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and legitimized their power. But after independence, there was a possibility to 
reverse these roles. As Michael Karabinos points out, post-colonial nations have an 
“ability […] to use a colonially created structure such as the archive for a new use 
in creating an independent identity” (Karabinos 2018, p 181). It would therefore not 
be surprising if archives in former colonies and former colonial powers, or countries 
regarded as belonging to the global north and the global south, describe themselves 
and their mission in different ways.

This paper explores variations in how national archival institutions in different 
parts of the world today describe their mission, their relation to the concept of mem-
ory, and how different historical experiences are reflected in this self-image. The 
study is not about whether archives really are the memory of the nation or not, but 
how they present themselves to the public. It is of course also obvious that self-
image and reality are not necessarily the same. Although national archives like to 
claim that they exist for the benefit of citizens, in practice citizens have in many 
cases limited access to records.

The following research questions are addressed in this paper:

• To what extent do national archival institutions’ descriptions of themselves and 
their mission indicate that they see themselves as contributing to a national mas-
ter narrative?

• How are references to a national memory and a national identity formulated and 
in which parts of the world are they most pronounced?

• In what ways are self-images of national archives connected to different histori-
cal experiences?

The source material for the study consisted of publicly available mission state-
ments. A total of 202 archival institutions were included in the study, among which 
146 had a working webpage. Several archives use Facebook instead of a webpage 
to present themselves to the public. Some institutions only mention what kinds of 
records they preserve and how they make them available, but a majority make a 
statement of their raison d’être, usually under the headline “About Us” or “Mission 
and Vision.” Such mission statements were collected from 138 webpages and 18 
Facebook accounts. The statements were analysed with special attention to word-
ings directly or indirectly alluding to the concept of memory or a national master 
narrative.

Literature review

This section will first address writings on the concept of memory and how groups 
and societies make memories. Second, it deals specifically with connections between 
memory and archives in the archival literature. Third, attention is drawn to studies 
on connections between archives and national memory and identity in colonial and 
post-colonial contexts. Finally, attention is directed towards recent research based on 
national archives’ vision statements.
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The concept of memory is complicated and has different meanings at the indi-
vidual and the group level. Historian Eviatar Zerubavel points out something obvi-
ous, that collective memory presupposes a collective, a group of some kind, that has 
something in common. These can be families, ethnic or religious groups, or nations, 
what Zerubavel calls mnemonic communities. Another obvious but important factor 
is that what we remember, as individuals and as group members, is to a large degree 
governed by social norms that say what is worth remembering and what can or 
should be forgotten. Mnemonic communities such as nations focus their memories 
on certain periods of their history that are considered particularly memorable. The 
memory of these eventful periods is supported by commemorative rituals such as 
the celebration of anniversaries, but these calendar-linked connections are entirely 
social constructions (Zerubavel 2003).

In order for individual memories to be transformed into collective memories, they 
must somehow be collected, organized, and announced. A collective has no built-
in ability to remember. It must be individuals within the group who in some way 
actively share memories and create something in common. It takes conscious effort 
to choose what to remember, to build museums, to preserve cultural heritage, to 
teach history—or to preserve archives. Collective memory is thus externally based 
and can be transmitted over generations. Margaret Hedstrom makes the following 
definition:

Collective memory is commonly defined as a group’s representations of its 
past in terms of shared origins, values, and experiences. Collective memory is 
distinct from individual memory because of the emphasis on common repre-
sentations of past events or experiences, some of which occurred long before 
the lifetime of any living person (Hedstrom 2010, pp 165–166).

The “common representations” of the past that Hedstrom mentions can consist of 
stories, symbols, books, songs, statues, traditions, etc. (Olick 2010). Stories can of 
course be more or less true, and traditions can be made up (Hobsbawm and Ranger 
1992). What is important in this context is their function to contribute to a sense of 
community and shared identity and to connect the present with the past. Hedstrom 
points out that “[r]epresentations of the past can also be mobilized as a source of 
resistance to established networks of power and authority and as a means of build-
ing cohesion in emerging communities” (Hedstrom 2010, p 167). This remark is 
relevant for groups within a nation as well as on a national level, perhaps especially 
for relatively young nation states.

There are several different terms for memories shared by groups and societies. 
Many researchers today use the concept of cultural memory, while others talk about 
collective or social memory. These terms are often treated as synonyms, even though 
there are distinctions (Erll 2010). For instance, Aleida Assman claims that social 
memory is more basic and “grounded in lived experiences that vanish with their 
carriers” (Assman 2008, p 55). Whatever term one prefers, it is important, as Jan 
Assman stresses, to keep in mind that groups, institutions, societies, and nations do 
not “have” a memory, but they “make” one “by means of things meant as reminders 
such as monuments, museums, libraries, archives, and other mnemonic institutions” 
(Assman 2010, p 111).
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When it comes to archives, Aleida Assman points out that “[t]he archive is not 
just a place in which documents from the past are preserved; it is also a place where 
the past is constructed and produced” (Assman 2011, p 13). This insight has been 
a theme in much archival literature during recent decades. In their influential 2002 
article on archives and power, Joan M. Schwartz and Terry Cook conclude:

Memory, like history, is rooted in archives. Without archives, memory fal-
ters, knowledge of accomplishments fades, pride in a shared past dissipates. 
Archives counter these losses. Archives contain the evidence of what went 
before. […] Archives validate our experiences, our perceptions, our narratives, 
our stories. Archives are our memories (Schwartz and Cook 2002, p 18).

This rather simplified picture is, however, contested. Michael Piggott gives many 
examples of how the analogy between archives and memory is used and over-used 
in archival discourse, especially by public archival institutions. The reverse, i.e. an 
analogy between loss of records and amnesia, is also very widespread and equally 
misleading. What individuals and groups remember is affected by many factors. 
Archives and records sometimes play an important part; sometimes they are totally 
irrelevant (Piggott 2005). Eric Ketelaar stresses that identities, collective as well as 
individual, are constructs, based on memories. But memories are also constructs, 
shaped and maintained within social frameworks, and so are archives. Archives 
become part of the living memory only when they are used for a purpose (Ketelaar 
2014).

So, if archives are not memories, what are they? According to Hedstrom, archives 
are “sources for the potential discovery or recovery of memories that have been lost” 
(Hedstrom 2010, p 176). Based on a review of neuropsychological aspects of indi-
vidual memory, Laura Millar concludes that records and archives are “triggers or 
touchstones that lead to the recollection of past events” (Millar 2006, p 114). Ran-
dall C. Jimerson stresses that archival documents, because of their fixed and evi-
dential nature, can serve as a corrective both to individual and collective memory 
(Jimerson 2015). Barbara L. Craig makes a connection between Pierre Nora’s idea 
of memory as a physical context and archives as “a physical space for memory and a 
site in which it is recalled” (Craig 2002, p 287).

The complicated nature of the relationship between archives and memory and the 
lack of consensus among writers about the concepts is clearly illuminated in an over-
view by Jacobsen, Punzalan, and Hedstrom. They distinguish four major themes, or 
intertwined “threads”, in the archival literature, all of which are relevant for a study 
of national archives and memory. The first theme emphasizes records as a material 
cultural heritage and the role of archives as heritage institutions with a salient sym-
bolic role in the discourse on a collective identity. The second theme, on the other 
hand, is critical towards all attempts to make a direct connection between archives 
and memory. These writers also question traditional perceptions about the neutrality 
and reliability of archives as evidence. The third thread discusses the role of archives 
and archivists in efforts to reveal violations of human rights and to seek justice for 
marginalized communities, e.g. in connection with truth and reconciliation commis-
sions. Finally, the fourth thread discusses the nature of archival records and whether 
there is such a thing as a specific archival memory. It is worth emphasizing that 
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several writers, including some of those cited above, can be attributed to more than 
one of the identified themes (Jacobsen et al. 2013).

The most recent overview of the topic, by Mason A. Jones, is a critical essay on 
the various ways the concept of memory is applied in archival literature and prac-
tice. The author deplores the unclear terminology and calls for a unified and more 
precise definition (Jones 2022). The present study does not claim to develop the con-
cept of memory and will not itself use it as a tool. Because it investigates if and how 
archival institutions in today’s world use memory for their own purposes, the ambi-
guity of the concept does not pose a problem; rather, it is what is being examined.

There are several studies of the role of archives for memory and national identity 
formation in various contexts. For archives in former colonies, there is the prob-
lem of inherited colonial archives. Ellen Ndeshi Namhila’s study of person-related 
records at the National Archives of Namibia shows that the recordkeeping system 
of the German colonial administration did not include the “natives” and that records 
from the following South African administration were poorly organized. As a con-
sequence, the lack of records related to personal circumstances such as adoption, 
estates, and employment creates problems for many Namibians today. Namhila finds 
similar conditions in other African countries and concludes that “these archives are 
‘national’ in name only” (Namhila 2016, p 114).

There are also examples of records from a colonial regime being used by the 
colonizers themselves, who needed a common history with heroes and important 
events to remember. Lawrence Dritsas and Joan Haig demonstrate how the Euro-
pean settler regime in Southern Rhodesia (Zimbabwe) used their archival institution 
to strengthen a form of “colonial nationalism.” Especially the collecting and publi-
cation of a series of manuscripts by the early European explorers and settlers in the 
region was a “creative, constructive process of identity-building” (Dritsas and Haig 
2014, p 38.)

Verne Harris describes how South African public archives during the apartheid 
era controlled remembering and forgetting, thereby legitimizing the system. In the 
1990s demands were raised that the National Archives should by law be given an 
active role in promoting a new nation-building narrative. This did not happen, which 
in the view of Harris was a good thing (Harris 2002). However, Anthea Josias pro-
vides several examples from post-apartheid South Africa of initiatives by museums 
and archives to collect and exhibit memories of personal and collective experiences 
that were suppressed during apartheid. In addition to archival records, oral histories 
and other non-written accounts have also been recovered, with the explicit purpose 
to contribute to national reconciliation (Josias 2011). Sindiso Bhebhe and Mpho 
Ngoepe strongly criticize the national archives of South Africa and Zimbabwe for 
promoting national master narratives that support the ruling elite. The archives have 
oral history programs intended to collect the stories of marginalized people, but 
these programs are, according to the authors, heavily politicized and exclude minor-
ity groups and other voices outside the ruling parties (Bhebhe and Ngoepe 2021).

Alistair G. Tough discusses the development of public archives in east and central 
Africa since independence, with a focus on recordkeeping and the role of archives 
for accountability. All newly independent states organized some kind of national 
archives. These however soon found themselves in difficulties due to inadequate 
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financing and problems to recruit and keep skilled staff. Political conflicts, with lead-
ers not allowing criticism, made matters worse. As a consequence, many archives 
focused on the records of the colonial past and the liberation struggle, and “history 
stopped at the date of independence” (Tough 2009, p 190).

In a different colonial context, the Philippines, it was the American administra-
tion (1898–1946) that brought together and organized the scattered records of the 
previous Spanish regime. The collection of Spanish records is written in a lan-
guage incomprehensible to the majority of the population. Nevertheless, according 
to Ricardo L. Punzalan, after independence they became the core of the National 
Archives and were recognized as an essential part of the nation’s common past. 
Somewhat ironically, the American colonial regime in this way contributed to a 
Philippine national consciousness and made it possible to create a national master 
narrative (Punzalan 2006).

As shown, there is a fair amount of research on the relation between the concept 
of memory and national archives in today’s world, but comparative studies are lack-
ing. However, Sara Martínez-Cardama and Ana R. Pacios have conducted an inter-
esting study on how national archives present their priorities based on an analysis of 
strategic plans and vision statements. Their source material is relatively small (18 
strategic plans and 41 vision statements) but some results are clear. Strategic plans to 
a high degree prioritize access and use, preservation, and digitization. These terms 
are also frequent in vision statements, but memory and heritage are also widely used 
keywords in these kinds of documents (Martínez-Cardama and Pacios 2022).

Method and material

Methodologically, the present document study is partly inspired by the article by 
Martínez-Cardama and Pacios (2022). The main source material is webpages of 
national archives, where there usually is some form of mission statement located 
under the heading “About us” or “Mission and Vision”.

A study of national archives presupposes a definition. The webpage COUN-
TRIES-of the-WORLD.COM lists all independent countries, ordered by continents. 
The list includes the 193 member states of the United Nations, the two UN observers 
Palestine and Vatican City, as well as Taiwan and Kosovo, for a total of 197 (COUN-
TRIES-of the-WORLD.COM 2022). There are however also a number of other more 
or less self-governing territories with institutions called national archives. Hence, 
the study at the outset also included Curaçao, Faroe Islands, Gibraltar, Greenland, 
Niue, Scotland, and Zanzibar, all in all giving 204 entities. All these institutions are 
listed in appendix.

Web-links to most national archives in the world are found in the International 
directory of national archives, which contains basic information about 198 archival 
institutions (Franks and Bernier 2018). However, not all archives have a webpage 
and, as noted also by Martínez-Cardama and Pacios (2022), some links included in 
the directory are dead. A few of these webpages were instead located with the help 
of Wikipedia’s List of national archives (Wikipedia 2022a) or with a simple Google 
search. Some national archives without a webpage of their own have posted some 
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kind of mission statement on Facebook, and these were included. A few archives 
without a webpage contributed mission statements to the editors of International 
directory of national archives via personal communication. However, because the 
aim of this paper was to study how the institutions present themselves to the general 
public, these statements were not included.

All in all, texts from 137 webpages and 18 Facebook accounts were collected 
during March 2022. A majority of the institutions provide this information in Eng-
lish or French. In other cases, Google Translate was used for a rough translation. 
This tool is certainly not perfect, but it proved to be good enough for the purpose of 
this study. It is worth emphasizing that webpages continuously change. Accordingly, 
the source material is a snapshot and some statements may have been altered on the 
webpage after they were collected.

The collected texts were analysed with qualitative content analysis. With this 
method, the research questions provide a stable reference point for an otherwise 
flexible categorization and interpretation of text content (Grønmo 2019; Zhang and 
Wildemuth 2009). Hence, the texts were reviewed with attention to all text elements 
that directly or indirectly alluded to the concept of memory or a national master 
narrative of some kind. Such text elements could consist of one or a few words or a 
whole sentence. These keywords and phrases were coded as categories and grouped 
into broader themes. The intention was to refine the themes as much as possible, but 
sometimes a sentence could be attributed to more than one theme.

Findings

A very common theme under the heading “About Us” is the history of the archival 
institution. This account sometimes ends with the situation today and thus becomes 
mixed with the mission statement. Frequent categories in this theme are the archives’ 
foundation, archival legislation, and the archives’ place in the government organiza-
tion. Because this theme only briefly relates to the concept of memory, it will not be 
further analysed.

Another recurring theme could be labelled archival management. This concerns 
what types of records the archives keeps and how they are managed. Common cat-
egories here are preservation and conservation, acquisition and appraisal, retrieval, 
digitization, research, and education. This theme touches a little closer upon the 
concept of memory because the texts often mention preservation of records of per-
manent value, which implies their use for history writing and teaching. However, 
this connection was considered too vague and general for the theme to be further 
explored.

A third theme, not further investigated, comes close to archival management 
but connects it to citizens, society, and the nation. Significant categories are citi-
zens’ rights and the importance of documentation for today’s society with typical 
keywords such as public, citizens, democracy, accountability, and development. 
Another common category within this theme points out in a general way that records 
are of national importance, national significance, or national interest.
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In the following, the four themes most relevant for the study’s research questions 
are presented. Countries are grouped by continents in accordance with the webpage 
COUNTRIES-of the-WORLD.COM.

Africa

There are 55 national archives in Africa, but 24 archives were excluded due to a lack 
of statement or a lack of a working webpage or a Facebook account. For the analysis 
25 mission statements were collected from webpages and six were collected from 
Facebook.

The first theme connects records with history and future. One category consists 
of phrases containing keywords such as historical records, historical archives, his-
torical manuscripts, or historical information, as found in statements from 12 Afri-
can archives. Typical wordings go like this: “Our mission is to safeguard, preserve 
and share the historical records of Rwanda”, or “Seychelles National Archives is the 
official guardian of historical and government documents. We collect, store and con-
serve our history.” A category pronounced in four countries makes a clear connec-
tion to the future. For example, the National Archives of Mauritius preserves records 
“for the benefit of the future generations.” São Tomé and Príncipe talks about a 
“documentary collection recognized as a valuable historical heritage for this and for 
generations to come.” In summary, the explicit or implicit reasoning in this theme 
is that people in the future shall be able to use archival records to write the nation’s 
history.

A second theme can be labelled heritage, a term that occurs with many variations 
in 14 African mission statements. The most frequent categories are archival heritage 
and national heritage, either individually or combined as national archival heritage. 
Another common category is documentary or documented heritage, while historical 
heritage occurs in one statement. A typical wording is that a mission of the national 
archives is to “safeguard the national archival heritage” (Mali and Tunisia) or to 
“increase public awareness on the importance of documentary heritage” (Eswatini). 
Particular emphasis is placed on the heritage theme by the National Archives of 
Malawi, whose mission is to collect “information which reflects the country’s his-
torical, political, judiciary, religious, economic, social and cultural heritage.”

The third theme, found in statements by seven archives, involves the concept 
of memory. The word “memory” is used in several different combinations: collec-
tive memory (Cameroon), memory of the nation (Gabon, Kenya), collective mem-
ory of the nation (Mauritius), memory of the state (Senegal), and national memory 
(Mozambique). South Africa uses both the terms national memory and social mem-
ory. They also make a connection between national and individual memory.

The last identified theme is about identity, which contains two categories, 
namely the importance of archives for individual identity and the contribution of 
archives to a national identity. Three African archives explicitly express a desire 
to promote a national identity: Eswatini, São Tomé and Príncipe, and South 
Africa. The latter also clearly alludes to individual identity: “Archival records 
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therefore help us to understand who we are, either as individuals or as organiza-
tions, and where we come from.”

As Table  1 shows, the most widespread themes among African archives are 
history/future and heritage, while memory and identity are less common. South 
Africa uses all four themes, while Eswatini, Mauritius, and São Tomé and Prínc-
ipe use three. In some cases, two themes are combined in the same passage of 
text, as in this statement from Mauritius:

As a direct witness of human activity, archives are crucial in the history of 
the Republic of Mauritius as they play a key role in the study of our past. It 
is therefore essential to safeguard this documentary heritage for the benefit 
of the future generations.

The National Archives and Records Service of South Africa combines history, 
memory, and identity in an unusually expressive way:

By providing us with information about our past, we are better able to 
understand the present. This information is as important to a nation as indi-
vidual memory is to each person. Indeed, archives provide a basis for the 
proper understanding of the past that is important in South Africa to inform 
the development of a new democratic society. A public archives such as the 
National Archives and Records Service is therefore a special resource for 
dealing with the social memory of our nation and with protecting people’s 
rights in our country. It is a major resource for fostering a national identity. 
It is also a treasure house of national memory resources that is accessible to 
all.

Table 1  Identified themes in mission statements by national archives in Africa

History/future Heritage Memory Identity

Eritrea Eswatini Cameroon Eswatini
Eswatini Guinea Gabon São Tomé and Príncipe
Ethiopia Kenya Kenya South Africa
Gabon Madagascar Mauritius
Guinea Malawi Mozambique
Kenya Mali Senegal
Madagascar Mauritius South Africa
Malawi Morocco
Mauritius Nigeria
Nigeria São Tomé and Príncipe
Rwanda South Africa
São Tomé and Principe Tanzania
Seychelles Tunisia
South Africa Uganda
Sudan
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It is possible to assume that these wordings are a result of the lively discussion in 
the archival sector about the possibilities for archives to contribute to reconciliation 
in a nation torn by internal conflicts. However, many other countries on the conti-
nent have experienced conflicts but that has not left traces in the archival discourse.

Any other patterns are difficult to discern. The distribution of categories and 
themes are fairly even between former British and French colonies. Ethiopia is the 
only African country that never was colonized (except Liberia, which is not included 
in the study due to a lack of a webpage), but their statement is not particularly pro-
nounced regarding any of the aspects investigated.

Europe

The source material for Europe was more complete than the one for Africa. State-
ments were collected from 48 webpages and five Facebook accounts. The only 
European national archives not available at all in March 2022 was the Federal Archi-
val Agency of Russia (Table 2).

The most common themes among European national archives are the same as in 
Africa, and in the same order. A total of 30 of the 53 statements contain wordings in 
some way related to history. Among these, eight also include future generations. A 
statement that neatly summarizes the history/future theme comes from the National 
Records of Scotland: “Our purpose is to collect, preserve and produce informa-
tion about Scotland’s people and history and make it available to inform current 
and future generations.” A case of special interest is the Swedish National Archive, 
which articulates the history/future theme rather vaguely in words but very emphati-
cally in its logotype. This contains the head of Janus with two faces, one looking 
backwards at the past and one looking forward into the future.

The heritage theme occurs in 25 statements with many variations. A dominat-
ing category here is cultural heritage, which is mentioned by 12 European countries 
but not used at all in Africa. Historical heritage is also frequent, and in some cases 
(Armenia, Azerbaijan, and Croatia) the two are combined. Another common cat-
egory in Europe, as well as in Africa, is documentary or written heritage. National 
heritage is however less pronounced (four countries), although strongly emphasized 
by Latvia and Hungary. In contrast, Bosnia and Herzegovina and Ukraine say that 
they preserve “world cultural heritage”, and the Austrian State Archives claims 
that they “keep, index and conserve a highly valuable cultural heritage which is of 
importance to all of Europe.”

The memory theme occurs in statements from 11 archives. The most common 
category here stresses the collective aspect of memory. Typical wordings are “eternal 
access to our national memory” (the Netherlands) or “The mission of the National 
Archives is to preserve the collective memory of the Maltese nation” (Malta). In the 
case of Belgium, the slogan “Our Collective Memory!” is found in the header of the 
webpage. Four archives mention individual memory more or less clearly, and among 
those Greece and Portugal combine collective and individual memory in the same 
sentence.
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The identity theme occurs in four statements. Hungary is very clear about both 
the collective and individual aspects: “We aim to enable our collection to […] shape 
the identity of the nation, local and regional communities and, last but not least, 
the identity of each individual.” Otherwise, wordings about identity are vaguely 
expressed in Europe.

Only two countries, Croatia and Hungary, use all four themes. Estonia, Greece, 
Luxembourg, Montenegro, and the Netherlands use three. There is a fairly even dis-
tribution of the different themes among members and non-members of the European 
Union. The emphasis on heritage is particularly pronounced among post-commu-
nist countries in Central and Eastern Europe. It can be noticed that the two enemies 

Table 2  Identified themes in mission statements by national archives in Europe

History/future Heritage Memory Identity

Albania Andorra Belgium Croatia
Austria Armenia Croatia Hungary
Azerbaijan Austria Estonia Netherlands
Belarus Azerbaijan Greece Montenegro
Belgium Bosnia and Herzegovina Hungary
Bosnia and Herzegovina Bulgaria Luxembourg
Bulgaria Croatia Malta
Croatia Estonia Montenegro
Denmark Finland Netherlands
Estonia Greece Portugal
Faroe Islands Hungary Turkey
Germany Kosovo
Gibraltar Latvia
Greece Lithuania
Hungary Luxembourg
Iceland Moldova
Ireland Montenegro
Luxembourg Poland
Moldova Portugal
Monaco San Marino
Netherlands Slovenia
Poland Spain
Romania Sweden
San Marino Ukraine
Scotland UK
Spain
Sweden
Turkey
UK
The Vatican



1 3

Archival Science 

Armenia and Azerbaijan both stress their historical heritage (a heritage that includes 
territories that both countries claim as theirs). Other patterns based on historical 
experiences are hard to distinguish, though. For instance, former colonial powers do 
not express themselves noticeably differently than other countries. To sum up, the 
most significant observation about European national archives is their tendency to 
emphasize their importance for history and cultural heritage.

North America (including Central America and the Caribbean)

Among the 24 national archival institutions in the North American region, some 
kind of mission statements was found on 19 webpages and one Facebook account 
(Table 3).

The distribution of themes is similar to Africa and Europe. History/future is 
the largest theme, found in 15 statements, with explicit connections to future gen-
erations in four cases. The most frequent category is the history of the country, the 
nation or the people as a collective, while individual or family history occurs in 
three statements.

The heritage theme is clearly dominated by documentary heritage (9 of 13 state-
ments). Cultural and historical heritage also occur, but less frequently. The memory 
theme consists entirely of collective categories such as the nation’s, the country’s, 
or the government’s memory, while the individual aspect is absent. The identity 
theme is found in statements from two countries, but only Costa Rica uses the term 
“national identity”. Library and Archives Canada presents themselves as “a key 
resource for all Canadians who wish to gain a better understanding of who they are, 
individually and collectively.”

Table 3  Identified themes in mission statements by national archives in North America

History/future Heritage Memory Identity

Antigua and Barbuda Antigua and Barbuda Canada Canada
Bahamas Belize Cuba Costa Rica
Barbados Canada Curaçao
Canada Costa Rica Dominican Republic
Cuba Curaçao Honduras
Curaçao Dominica Nicaragua
Dominican Republic Dominican Republic Panama
Grenada Guatemala Saint Kitts and Nevis
Guatemala Honduras
Jamaica Jamaica
Nicaragua Nicaragua
Panama Panama
Saint Kitts and Nevis Saint Vincent and the Grenadines
Saint Vincent and the Grenadines Trinidad and Tobago
USA
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The Canadian archives is the only one that uses all four themes, while Curaçao, 
Dominican Republic, and Nicaragua use three. The dominating languages in the 
region are Spanish and English. Spanish-speaking countries dominate in the mem-
ory theme, but otherwise the different themes are rather evenly distributed between 
the two groups.

South America

In the South American region, mission statements were collected from nine web-
pages and two Facebook accounts. Only Venezuela had no presence on the internet 
(Table 4).

On this continent, references to history are less widespread. Instead, the domi-
nating themes are heritage and memory. Five of the six archives mentioning her-
itage talk about documentary heritage. The categories are exclusively collective, 
including the documentary heritage of the state, the country, or the nation. Catego-
ries related to memory and history are also collective in a similar way. Only the 
National Archive and Library of Bolivia makes a brief reference to individuals in a 
statement that they wish to “promote and strengthen personal and national identity.” 
Bolivia, together with Chile, is also the most active country in expressing the differ-
ent themes with many variations.

Asia

Mission statements were collected from 28 Asian webpages and two Facebook 
accounts. However, only 19 of these contained text elements in some way alluding 
to memory or a national master narrative, and 14 of the 44 Asian countries had no 
available statements at all (Table 5).

The dominating themes in Asia are heritage and history/future. Heritage is 
expressed as documentary, cultural, or historical, and as belonging to the nation 
or the country. An exception is the Qatar National Archive, which presents itself 
as a guardian of not only the nation’s, but also the region’s heritage. The history/
future theme is also closely connected to the history of the nation, not to individu-
als. The future is present in nine statements, but in two cases (Bhutan and India) 
it is expressed as posterity and in another (Myanmar) as perpetuity. The National 

Table 4  Identified themes in 
mission statements by national 
archives in South America

History/future Heritage Memory Identity

Argentina Bolivia Argentina Bolivia
Guyana Chile Bolivia Chile

Colombia Chile
Ecuador Ecuador
Guyana Uruguay
Peru
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Archives of Japan expresses the history/future theme in an exceptionally eloquent 
way:

The work of the National Archives has a vital significance for the future. The 
present is built on the past. The present gives rise to the future. The records of 
our past and present must be preserved and handed down to the next genera-
tion of people, who will explore their own future with our history in mind.

When the concept of memory is mentioned, it is in most cases connected to the 
nation, although Indonesia uses the term “collective memory” and Singapore talks 
about the “corporate memory of the Government and the social memory of our peo-
ple.” Identity is also always national, not individual. The National Archives of India 
does not use the term identity, but the wording “To help in spreading a feeling of 
national pride in our documentary cultural heritage” comes very close.

Only Singapore and Sri Lanka use all four themes. They also manage to combine 
several of them in a single sentence: “The effective management and preservation of 
documentary heritage to protect national identity, accountability and memory “(Sri 
Lanka); “This memory allows current and future generations of Singaporeans to 
understand our different cultures, explore our common heritage and appreciate who 
we are and how we became a nation” (Singapore).

Some patterns that may, or may not, be of significance are discernible. With the 
exception of Kazakhstan, republics of the former Soviet Union do not occur in the 
table, either due to a lack of a webpage or because their statements do not contain 
text elements relevant in this context. The National Archives Administration of Tai-
wan speaks about itself as “a manager of national archival heritage” preserving “the 
historical tracks of the nation’s development”, while their counterpart in the Peo-
ple’s Republic of China does not use any such words. Several major Asian countries 
with a colonial history, such as India, Pakistan, and Myanmar, talk about the signifi-
cance of archives for history and heritage. Indonesia, on the other hand, prefers to 

Table 5  Identified themes in mission statements by national archives in Asia

History/future Heritage Memory Identity

Bhutan Bahrain Bahrain India
Brunei India Bhutan Indonesia
India Japan Indonesia Philippines
Japan Kazakhstan Jordan Singapore
Jordan Myanmar Singapore Sri Lanka
Kazakhstan Pakistan Sri Lanka United Arab Emirates
Myanmar Philippines
Nepal Qatar
Oman Singapore
Pakistan Sri Lanka
Singapore Taiwan
Sri Lanka Thailand
Taiwan United Arab Emirates
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stress “collective memory and national identity.” South Korea concentrates on archi-
val administration and service to the public, while their counterparts to the north 
lack a webpage. In the western parts of Asia, archives in several of the smaller Arab 
nations present themselves as important for national history and memory, and even 
for identity. Israel on the other hand is clearly a country with a history of nation-
building, but that is not evident in the State Archives’ presentation of itself.

Australia and Oceania

The Australian and Pacific region consists of 15 nations, and mission statements 
were collected from nine webpages and two Facebook accounts (Table 6).

The sample is too small to form a basis for conclusions, but it can be noted that 
history/future dominates and identity is absent. Within the history/future theme, four 
of five statements emphasize the future, for example, The Niue National Archives, 
whose mission is to “maintain, collect, conserve and preserve archival records as 
historical assets for the use of future generations”.

New Zealand talks about heritage only in a general way, while Micronesia pre-
serves cultural heritage and Tuvalu keeps the “documentary cultural heritage of the 
people”. Australia is very explicit about the memory aspect: “The National Archives 
of Australia holds the memory of our nation and keeps vital Australian Government 
records safe.” Kiribati on the other hand alludes to memory in a more implicit way 
by “[providing] educational, economical and entertaining books or documents as 
well as a collective knowledge of the nation.”

Conclusion

The aim of this study was to explore how national archives in today’s world present 
themselves to the public and how these self-images relate to the concept of mem-
ory. Based on previous research, three research questions were presented. The first 
concerned the connection between mission statements and a national master narra-
tive, the second asked where references to national memory and national identity are 
most pronounced, and the third dealt with connections to historical experiences.

There are several examples of statements that express a desire to contribute to a 
national master narrative, but the wordings are usually not as explicit as might be 
expected. References to memory and identity also turned out to be less widespread 

Table 6  Identified themes in 
mission statements by national 
archives in Australia and 
Oceania

History/future Heritage Memory Identity

Australia Micronesia Australia –
New Zealand New Zealand Kiribati
Niue Tuvalu
Palau
Solomon Islands
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than expected, and no part of the world was clearly distinguished from the oth-
ers. There were many more references to history and heritage, and these were also 
evenly distributed between continents. In short, the national archives’ contributions 
to a national master narrative are largely built on allusions to history and heritage 
and to a lesser degree on the concept of memory. Based on previous research, some 
differences between former colonies and former colonial powers were expected, but 
no obvious patterns of that kind were found.

A possible explanation for the relatively small variations between continents and 
groups of countries is that national archival institutions are engaged in quite a lot 
of international cooperation, for instance in the International Council on Archives 
and UNESCO. Thus, they are likely to be as much influenced by each other as by 
the political environment in their own countries. Some variations were identified, 
though. European archives attach great importance to cultural and historical her-
itage, while the term documentary heritage dominates in the Americas. It can be 
noted that documentary heritage is the term preferred by UNESCO in the Memory 
of the World Programme, and all Latin American countries that use this expression 
have made submissions to the Memory of the World Register.

When it comes to distinctions related to different historical experiences, it was 
noted that countries involved in border conflicts, like Armenia/Azerbaijan and India/
Pakistan, are prone to combining history and heritage (although they are by no 
means the only ones to do so). A desire to come to terms with domestic conflict can 
explain why some national archives, such as in South Africa, attach great impor-
tance to the archives’ ability to support nation-building. In this case it is possible 
to see a connection to the work of the well-known South African Truth and Rec-
onciliation Commission. However, there have been many more truth commissions 
all over the world during recent decades. Wikipedia’s List of truth and reconcilia-
tion commissions contains more than fifty countries (Wikipedia 2022b). There is no 
doubt that archives have an important role to play for the work of these commissions 
(Huskamp Peterson 2005; Rubli and Jones 2013). It is also worth mentioning that in 
Latin America several archival collections documenting violations of human rights 
have been added to the Memory of the World Register (González Quintana 2009). 
Further conclusions as to relations between truth commissions and national archives 
would require a closer investigation.

This paper has only given a glimpse of an ongoing discourse about the relation 
between archives and memory. The study covered the whole world, but only at one 
point in time. One conclusion is that, in this context, the concept of memory cannot 
be separated from that of heritage. More research, especially with a longer historical 
perspective, could provide a deeper understanding of how archives perceive their 
role in society. Such studies could focus not only on the use of concepts like mem-
ory, heritage, and identity, but also on how archives present their role for advanc-
ing recordkeeping and archival management, or their importance for democracy, 
accountability, and development. These themes were identified in the mission state-
ments but not further explored in this paper. There are also other possible sources. 
Martínez-Cardama and Pacios (2022) used strategic plans to analyse priorities, and 
annual reports might be useful to further explore actual outcomes of the archives’ 
activities.
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Appendix: List of national archives and web‑links

(Accessed April 2022).

Africa 

Algeria: Centre Nationale des Archives
No working webpage
No Facebook account
Angola: Arquivo Histórico Nacional
No working webpage
Facebook: https:// www. faceb ook. com/ pages/ Arqui vo- Histórico- Nacio nal/ 26220 96138 21689
Benin, Archives nationale du Bénin
http:// www. dan. ilemi. net/
Botswana: Botswana National Archives and Records Services
No working webpage
Facebook: https:// www. faceb ook. com/ profi le. php? id= 10006 88957 12853
Burkina Faso: Centre National des Archives du Burkina Faso
No working webpage
No Facebook account
Burundi: Archives Nationales du Burundi
No working webpage
No Facebook account
Cape Verde: Arquivo Nacional de Cabo Verde
No working webpage
No statement on Facebook
Cameroon: Archives nationales du Cameroun
https:// www. archi vesna tiona les. cm/ index. php/ galle ry
Central African Republic: Archives Nationales de la République centrafricaine
No working webpage
No Facebook account
Chad: Service des Archives nationales du Tchad
No working webpage
No Facebook account
Comoros: Archives Nationales de Comores
http:// www. cndrs- comor es. org/ archi ves/
Democratic Republic of the Congo: Institution National des Archives du Congo
No working webpage
Facebook: https:// www. faceb ook. com/ INACO- Insti tut- Natio nal- des- Archi ves- du- Congo- 10052 82306 

236870
Republic of the Congo: Centre National des Archives et de la Documentation De La Republique du 

Congo
No working webpage
No Facebook account
Cote d’Ivoire: Archives Nationales De Côte D’Ivoire
No working webpage
No statement on Facebook
Djibouti: Archives nationales et Bibliothèque nationale – Djibouti
No working webpage
No statement on Facebook

https://www.facebook.com/pages/Arquivo-Histórico-Nacional/262209613821689
http://www.dan.ilemi.net/
https://www.facebook.com/profile.php?id=100068895712853
https://www.archivesnationales.cm/index.php/gallery
http://www.cndrs-comores.org/archives/
https://www.facebook.com/INACO-Institut-National-des-Archives-du-Congo-1005282306236870
https://www.facebook.com/INACO-Institut-National-des-Archives-du-Congo-1005282306236870
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Egypt: Dar el Kotob – Egyptian National Library and Archives
http:// www. darel kotob. gov. eg/
Equatorial Guinea: Ministry of culture. Library, archives, museums, books, and the collection of histori-

cal references
No working webpage
No Facebook account
Eritrea: Research and Documentation Centre of Eritrea
http:// www. eritr eanar chives. org
Eswatini: The Swaziland National Archives
https:// www. gov. sz/ index. php/ minis tries- depar tments/ minis try- of- ict/ natio nal- archi ves
Ethiopia: National Archives and Library of Ethiopia
No working website
Facebook: https:// www. faceb ook. com/ pages/ Natio nal- Archi ves- and- Libra ry- of- Ethio pia/ 14491 03355 

23346
Gabon: Direction Générale des Archives Nationales, de la Bibliothèque Nationale et de la Documenta-

tion Gabonaise
http:// www. dgabd. ga
Gambia: National Archives of the Gambia
No working webpage
No Facebook account
Ghana: Public Records and Archives Administration Department
https:// praad. gov. gh
Guinea: Direction Nationale des Archives
https:// archi ves- natio nales- gouv- gn. com
Guinea-Bissau: Arquivo Histórico Nacionais
No working webpage
No Facebook account
Kenya: National Archives & Documentation Service
https:// sport sheri tage. go. ke/ cultu re- herit age/ kenya- natio nal- archi ves/
Lesotho: Lesotho National Archives
No working webpage
No Facebook account
Liberia: Center for National Documents and Records Agency
No working webpage
No Facebook account
Libya: Centre for Libyan Archives and Historical Studies
No working website
No Facebook account
Madagascar: Direction Des Archives Nationales
No working webpage
Facebook: https:// www. faceb ook. com/ Arisi vaMal agasy
Malawi: National Archives of Malawi
http:// www. sdnp. org. mw/ ruleo flaw/ archi ves/ overv iew. html
Mali: Direction Nationale des Archives du Mali
http:// archi vesma li. gouv. ml/ wp- conte nt/ uploa ds/ 2020/ 01/ Prese ntati on- de- la- DNAM. pdf
Mauritania: Archives Nationales de Mauritanie
No working webpage
No Facebook account
Mauritius: National Archives Department
http:// natio nalar chives. govmu. org/ Engli sh/ Pages/ defau lt. aspx
Morocco: Archives du Maroc
https:// www. archi vesdu maroc. ma

http://www.darelkotob.gov.eg/
http://www.eritreanarchives.org
https://www.gov.sz/index.php/ministries-departments/ministry-of-ict/national-archives
https://www.facebook.com/pages/National-Archives-and-Library-of-Ethiopia/144910335523346
https://www.facebook.com/pages/National-Archives-and-Library-of-Ethiopia/144910335523346
http://www.dgabd.ga
https://praad.gov.gh
https://archives-nationales-gouv-gn.com
https://sportsheritage.go.ke/culture-heritage/kenya-national-archives/
https://www.facebook.com/ArisivaMalagasy
http://www.sdnp.org.mw/ruleoflaw/archives/overview.html
http://archivesmali.gouv.ml/wp-content/uploads/2020/01/Presentation-de-la-DNAM.pdf
http://nationalarchives.govmu.org/English/Pages/default.aspx
https://www.archivesdumaroc.ma
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Mozambique: Archivo Historico de Moçambique
http:// www. ahm. uem. mz/ novo/
Namibia: Namibia Library and Archives Service
http:// nlas. info
Niger: Direction des Archives Nationales du Niger
No working webpage
No Facebook account
Nigeria: National Archives of Nigeria
https:// fmic. gov. ng/ depar tments/ natio nal- archi ves/
Rwanda: Rwanda Archives and Library Services Authority
http:// ralsa. mycul ture. gov. rw
Sao Tome and Principe: Arquivo Histórico de São Tomé e Príncipe
http:// casac omum. org/ cc/ arqui vos? set=e_ 7488
Senegal: Archives du Senegal
http:// www. senar chives. org. sn/
Seychelles: National Archives of Seychelles
http:// www. sna. gov. sc
Sierra Leone: Sierra Leone Public Archives
No working webpage
No statement on Facebook
Somalia: National Library of Somalia
No working webpage
No Facebook account
South Africa: National Archives and Records Service of South Africa
http:// www. natio nal. archi ves. gov. za/
South Sudan: National Archives of South Sudan
No working webpage
No Facebook account
Sudan: National Records Office of Sudan
No working webpage
Facebook: https:// www. faceb ook. com/ pages/ Natio nal- Recor ds- Office- of- Sudan/ 18046 99453 62928
Tanzania: Tanzania Records and Archives Management Department
https:// www. nyara ka. go. tz
Togo: Direction de la Bibliothèque et Archives Nationales du Togo
No working webpage
No statement on Facebook
Tunisia: Archives Nationales de Tunisie
http:// www. archi ves. nat. tn/ index. php? id= 1&L=2
Uganda: National Records Centre and Archives
https:// publi cserv ice. go. ug/ natio nal- recor ds- centre- and- archi ves/
Zanzibar: Zanzibar National Archives
No working webpage
No statement on Facebook
Zambia: National Archives of Zambia
https:// www. moha. gov. zm/? page_ id= 5716

http://www.ahm.uem.mz/novo/
http://nlas.info
https://fmic.gov.ng/departments/national-archives/
http://ralsa.myculture.gov.rw
http://casacomum.org/cc/arquivos?set=e_7488
http://www.senarchives.org.sn/
http://www.sna.gov.sc
http://www.national.archives.gov.za/
https://www.facebook.com/pages/National-Records-Office-of-Sudan/180469945362928
https://www.nyaraka.go.tz
http://www.archives.nat.tn/index.php?id=1&L=2
https://publicservice.go.ug/national-records-centre-and-archives/
https://www.moha.gov.zm/?page_id=5716
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Zimbabwe: National Archives of Zimbabwe
No working webpage
No statement on Facebook

Europe 

Albania: Drejtoria e Përgjithshme e Arkivave
No working webpage
Facebook: https:// www. faceb ook. com/ arkiva. gov. al
Andorra: Arxiu Nacional d’Andorra
https:// www. cultu ra. ad/ arxius
Armenia: National Archives of Armenia
http:// www. armar chives. am
Austria: Österreichischen Staatsarchiv
https:// www. oesta. gv. at
Azerbaijan: National Archive of the Republic of Azerbaijan
http:// www. milli arxiv. gov. az
Belarus: National Historical Archive of Belarus
http:// niab. by/ newsi te/ by
Belgium: State Archives of Belgium
https:// arch. arch. be/ index. php?l= en
Bosnia and Herzegovina: Arhiv Bosne i Hercegovine
http:// www. arhiv bih. gov. ba
Bulgaria: Bulgarian State Archives
http:// www. archi ves. gover nment. bg
Croatia: Hrvatski državni arhiv
http:// www. arhiv. hr/
Cyprus: State Archives
http:// www. mjpo. gov. cy/ mjpo/ state archi ve. nsf/ index_ en/ index_ en? OpenD ocume nt
Czech Republic: Národní archive
https:// www. nacr. cz/
Denmark: Rigsarkivet
https:// www. sa. dk/
Estonia: Rahvusarhiiv
http:// www. ra. ee/
Faroe Islands: Tjóðskjalasavnið
https:// www. skjal asavn. fo/
Finland: Kansallisarkisto
https:// arkis to. fi
France: Archives nationales
http:// www. archi ves- natio nales. cultu re. gouv. fr
Georgia: Sakartvelos Erovnuli Arkivi
https:// archi ve. gov. ge/
No mission statement on webpage
Facebook: https:// www. faceb ook. com/ Natio nalAr chive sofGe orgia
Germany: Bundesarchiv
https:// www. bunde sarch iv. de/

https://www.facebook.com/arkiva.gov.al
https://www.cultura.ad/arxius
http://www.armarchives.am
https://www.oesta.gv.at
http://www.milliarxiv.gov.az
http://niab.by/newsite/by
https://arch.arch.be/index.php?l=en
http://www.arhivbih.gov.ba
http://www.archives.government.bg
http://www.arhiv.hr/
http://www.mjpo.gov.cy/mjpo/statearchive.nsf/index_en/index_en?OpenDocument
https://www.nacr.cz/
https://www.sa.dk/
http://www.ra.ee/
https://www.skjalasavn.fo/
https://arkisto.fi
http://www.archives-nationales.culture.gouv.fr
https://archive.gov.ge/
https://www.facebook.com/NationalArchivesofGeorgia
https://www.bundesarchiv.de/
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Gibraltar: Gibraltar National Archives
https:// www. natio nalar chives. gi
No mission statement on webpage
Facebook: https:// www. faceb ook. com/ profi le. php? id= 10006 47289 38745
Greece: General State Archives of Greece
http:// www. gak. gr
Greenland: Nunatta Katersugaasivia Allagaateqarfialu
https:// en. nka. gl
Hungary: Magyar Nemzeti Levéltár
https:// mnl. gov. hu
Iceland: Þjóðskjalasafn Íslands
https:// skjal asafn. is
Ireland: National Archives of Ireland
https:// www. natio nalar chives. ie
Italy: Archivio centrale dello Stato
https:// www. acs. benic ultur ali. it
Kosovo: Biblioteka Kombëtare e Kosovës
http:// www. bibli oteka- ks. org
Mission statement on webpage
Facebook: https:// www. faceb ook. com/ bibli oteka kombe taree kosov es
Latvia: Latvijas Nacionālais Arhīvs
https:// www. arhivi. gov. lv/ defau lt. aspx
Liechtenstein: Liechtensteinisches Landesarchiv
https:// www. llv. li/ inhalt/ 1650/ amtss tellen/ lande sarch iv
Lithuania: Lietuvos Vyriausiojo Archyvaro Tarnyba
http:// www. archy vai. lt/ lt/ lvat. html
Luxembourg: Archives nationales de Luxembourg
https:// anlux. public. lu/ fr. html
Malta: National Archives of Malta
https:// natio nalar chives. gov. mt/ en/ Pages/ defau lt. aspx
Moldova: Arhiva Naţională a Republicii Moldova
http:// arhiva. gov. md
Monaco: Service Central des Archives et de la Documentation Administrative
https:// www. gouv. mc/ Gouve rneme nt- et- Insti tutio ns/ Le- Gouve rneme nt/ Minis tere-d- Etat/ Secre tariat- 

Gener al- du- Gouve rneme nt/ Servi ce- Centr al- des- Archi ves- et- de- la- Docum entat ion- Admin istra tive
Montenegro: Državni arhiv Crne Gore
http:// dacg. me
Netherlands: Nationaal Archief
https:// www. natio naala rchief. nl
North Macedonia: The State Archives of the Republic of North Macedonia
http:// www. arhiv. gov. mk
Norway: Arkivverket Riksarkivet og Statsarkivene
https:// www. arkiv verket. no/ en
Poland: Archiwum Główne Akt Dawnych
http:// agad. gov. pl
Portugal: Arquivo Nacional Torre do Tombo
http:// antt. dglab. gov. pt
Romania: Archivele Nationale ale Romaniei
http:// arhiv elena tiona le. ro/ site/
No mission statement on webpage
Facebook: https:// www. faceb ook. com/ Arhiv ele. Natio nale. ale. Roman iei

https://www.nationalarchives.gi
https://www.facebook.com/profile.php?id=100064728938745
http://www.gak.gr
https://en.nka.gl
https://mnl.gov.hu
https://skjalasafn.is
https://www.nationalarchives.ie
https://www.acs.beniculturali.it
http://www.biblioteka-ks.org
https://www.facebook.com/bibliotekakombetareekosoves
https://www.arhivi.gov.lv/default.aspx
https://www.llv.li/inhalt/1650/amtsstellen/landesarchiv
http://www.archyvai.lt/lt/lvat.html
https://anlux.public.lu/fr.html
https://nationalarchives.gov.mt/en/Pages/default.aspx
http://arhiva.gov.md
https://www.gouv.mc/Gouvernement-et-Institutions/Le-Gouvernement/Ministere-d-Etat/Secretariat-General-du-Gouvernement/Service-Central-des-Archives-et-de-la-Documentation-Administrative
https://www.gouv.mc/Gouvernement-et-Institutions/Le-Gouvernement/Ministere-d-Etat/Secretariat-General-du-Gouvernement/Service-Central-des-Archives-et-de-la-Documentation-Administrative
http://dacg.me
https://www.nationaalarchief.nl
http://www.arhiv.gov.mk
https://www.arkivverket.no/en
http://agad.gov.pl
http://antt.dglab.gov.pt
http://arhivelenationale.ro/site/
https://www.facebook.com/Arhivele.Nationale.ale.Romaniei
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Russia: Federal Archival Agency of Russia
No working webpage
No Facebook account
San Marino: Archivi di Stato della Repubblica di San Marino
http:// archi vio. cultu ra. sm/
Scotland: National Records of Scotland
https:// www. nrsco tland. gov. uk
Serbia: Archives of Serbia
https:// arhiv srbije. rs
Slovakia: Slovenský národný archív
https:// www. minv. sk/? dejiny- archi vu-1
Slovenia: Arhiv Republike Slovenije
https:// www. gov. si/ drzav ni- organi/ organi- v- sesta vi/ arhiv/
Spain: Archivo Histórico Nacional
http:// www. cultu rayde porte. gob. es/ cultu ra/ areas/ archi vos/ mc/ archi vos/ ahn/ porta da. html
Sweden: Riksarkivet
https:// riksa rkivet. se
Switzerland: Schweizerisches Bundesarchiv
https:// www. bar. admin. ch/ bar/ en/ home. html
Turkey: TC Başbakanlık Devlet Arşivleri Genel Müdürlüğü
http:// www. devle tarsi vleri. gov. tr
Ukraine: State Archival Service of Ukraine
Ukrderzharkhiv
https:// archi ves. gov. ua/ en/
UK: The National Archives
https:// www. natio nalar chives. gov. uk
The Vatican: Archivio Apostolico Vaticano
http:// www. archi vioap ostol icova ticano. va/ conte nt/ aav/ en. html

North America (including Central America and the Caribbean) 

Antigua and Barbuda: National Archives of Antigua and Barbuda
http:// www. antig uanat ional archi ves. org
Bahamas: Department of Archives
http:// www. baham asnat ional archi ves. bs/ index. html
Barbados: Department of Archives
https:// www. gov. bb/ Depar tments/ archi ves
Belize: Belize Archives and Records Service
https:// www. archi ves. gov. bz
Canada: Library and Archives Canada
https:// www. bac- lac. gc. ca/ eng/ Pages/ home. aspx
Costa Rica: El Archivo Nacional de Costa Rica
https:// www. archi vonac ional. go. cr
Cuba: Archivo Nacional de la República de Cuba
No working webpage
Facebook: https:// www. faceb ook. com/ archi vonac ional. decuba
Curaçao: Nationaal Archief Curaçao
https:// www. natio naala rchief. cw/

http://archivio.cultura.sm/
https://www.nrscotland.gov.uk
https://arhivsrbije.rs
https://www.minv.sk/?dejiny-archivu-1
https://www.gov.si/drzavni-organi/organi-v-sestavi/arhiv/
http://www.culturaydeporte.gob.es/cultura/areas/archivos/mc/archivos/ahn/portada.html
https://riksarkivet.se
https://www.bar.admin.ch/bar/en/home.html
http://www.devletarsivleri.gov.tr
https://archives.gov.ua/en/
https://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk
http://www.archivioapostolicovaticano.va/content/aav/en.html
http://www.antiguanationalarchives.org
http://www.bahamasnationalarchives.bs/index.html
https://www.gov.bb/Departments/archives
https://www.archives.gov.bz
https://www.bac-lac.gc.ca/eng/Pages/home.aspx
https://www.archivonacional.go.cr
https://www.facebook.com/archivonacional.decuba
https://www.nationaalarchief.cw/
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Dominica: National Archives Unit of the Commonwealth of Dominica
http:// www. dlis. gov. dm/ natio nal- archi ves
Dominican Republic: Archivo de la Nación
https:// agn. gob. do
El Salvador: Archivo General de la Nación
No working webpage
No statement on Facebook
Grenada: National Archives of Grenada
https:// grena danat ional archi ves. wordp ress. com
Guatemala: Archivo General de Centro América
https:// ahgua. ufm. edu/ agca/
Haiti: Archives Nationales d’Haiti
No working webpage
No statement on Facebook
Honduras: Archivo Nacional de Honduras
https:// cdihh. ihah. hn/ archi vo- nacio nal- de- hondu ras/
Jamaica: Jamaica Archives and Records Department
https:// www. jard. gov. jm/
Mexico: Archivo General de la Nación
https:// www. gob. mx/ agn
Nicaragua: Archivo General de la Nación de Nicaragua
https:// www. inc. gob. ni/ bibli otecas- y- archi vos/
Panama: Archivo Nacional de Panama
http:// www. archi vonac ional. gob. pa
Saint Kitts and Nevis: National Archives of Saint Kitts and Nevis
http:// www. natio nalar chives. gov. kn
Saint Lucia: National Archives Authority of Saint Lucia
No working webpage
No statement on Facebook
Saint Vincent and the Grenadines: Saint Vincent and the Grenadines National Archives
http:// www. educa tion. gov. vc/ educa tion/ index. php/ archi ves
Trinidad and Tobago: National Archives of Trinidad and Tobago
http:// natt. gov. tt
USA: National Archives and Records Administration
https:// www. archi ves. gov

South America 

Argentina: Archivo General de la Nación
https:// www. argen tina. gob. ar/ inter ior/ archi vo- gener al- de- la- nacion
Bolivia: Archivo y Biblioteca Nacionales de Bolivia
https:// www. archi voybi bliot ecana ciona les. org. bo
Brazil: Arquivo Nacional
http:// www. arqui vonac ional. gov. br/ br/
No mission statement on webpage
Facebook: https:// www. faceb ook. com/ arqui vonac ional brasil
Chile: Archivo Nacional de Chile
https:// www. archi vonac ional. gob. cl/ sitio/

http://www.dlis.gov.dm/national-archives
https://agn.gob.do
https://grenadanationalarchives.wordpress.com
https://ahgua.ufm.edu/agca/
https://cdihh.ihah.hn/archivo-nacional-de-honduras/
https://www.jard.gov.jm/
https://www.gob.mx/agn
https://www.inc.gob.ni/bibliotecas-y-archivos/
http://www.archivonacional.gob.pa
http://www.nationalarchives.gov.kn
http://www.education.gov.vc/education/index.php/archives
http://natt.gov.tt
https://www.archives.gov
https://www.argentina.gob.ar/interior/archivo-general-de-la-nacion
https://www.archivoybibliotecanacionales.org.bo
http://www.arquivonacional.gov.br/br/
https://www.facebook.com/arquivonacionalbrasil
https://www.archivonacional.gob.cl/sitio/
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Colombia: Archivo general de la nacion de Colombia
https:// www. archi vogen eral. gov. co
Ecuador: Archivo Nacional del Ecuador
https:// mas. ec/ direc torio/ ane- archi vo- nacio nal- del- ecuad or/
Guyana: National Archives of Guyana
https:// archi ves. a1xso lutio ns. com/
Paraguay: Archivo Nacional de Asunción
http:// www. archi vonac ional. gov. py
Peru: Archivo General de la Nación
http:// www. agn. gob. pe
Suriname: Nationaal Archief van Suriname
No working webpage
Facebook: https:// www. faceb ook. com/ natio naala rchie fsuri name
Uruguay: Archivo General de la Nación del Uruguay
http:// www. agn. gub. uy
Venezuela: Archivo General de la Nacíon
No working webpage
No Facebook account

Asia 

Afghanistan: National Archives of Afghanistan
No working webpage
No statement on Facebook
Bahrain: Bahrain National Archives at Isa Cultural Centre
https:// www. icc. gov. bh/ Our% 20Cul tural% 20Spa ces/ NATIO NALAR CHIVES/
Bangladesh: Department of Archives and Library
http:// www. nanl. gov. bd
Bhutan: National Library and Archives of Bhutan
http:// www. libra ry. gov. bt/ archi ve
Brunei: Brunei National Archives
http:// www. museu ms. gov. bn/ Theme/ Home. aspx
Cambodia: National Archives of Cambodia
No working webpage
Facebook: https:// www. faceb ook. com/ natio nalar chive sofca mbodia
China: State Archives Administration of the People’s Republic of China
https:// www. saac. gov. cn
India: National Archives of India
http:// www. natio nalar chives. nic. in
Indonesia: Arsip Nasional Republik Indonesia
https:// anri. go. id
Iran: National Archives and Library of the Islamic Republic of Iran
No working webpage
No Facebook account
Iraq: Iraq National Library and Archives
No working webpage
No statement on Facebook
Israel: Israel State Archives
https:// archi ves. gov. il

https://www.archivogeneral.gov.co
https://mas.ec/directorio/ane-archivo-nacional-del-ecuador/
https://archives.a1xsolutions.com/
http://www.archivonacional.gov.py
http://www.agn.gob.pe
https://www.facebook.com/nationaalarchiefsuriname
http://www.agn.gub.uy
https://www.icc.gov.bh/Our%20Cultural%20Spaces/NATIONALARCHIVES/
http://www.nanl.gov.bd
http://www.library.gov.bt/archive
http://www.museums.gov.bn/Theme/Home.aspx
https://www.facebook.com/nationalarchivesofcambodia
https://www.saac.gov.cn
http://www.nationalarchives.nic.in
https://anri.go.id
https://archives.gov.il
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Japan: The National Archives of Japan
http:// www. archi ves. go. jp/ index. html
Jordan: Department of the National Library (archives section)
http:// www. nl. gov. jo/
Kazakhstan: National Archives of the Republic of Kazakhstan
https:// www. ultty karhiv. kz/ en/
Kuwait: Center of Historic Documents
No working webpage
No Facebook account
Kyrgyzstan: Central State Archive of the Kyrgyz Republic
http:// archi ve. kg/
Laos: National Archives Department of Laos
No working webpage
No Facebook account
Lebanon: Centre des Archives Nationales
No working webpage
No Facebook account
Malaysia: Arkib Negara Malaysia
No working webpage
No statement on Facebook
Maldives: National Archives of Maldives
https:// archi ves. gov. mv/ en
Mongolia: General Authority for Archives of the Government Agency of Mongolia
No working webpage
No Facebook account
Myanmar: National Archives of Myanmar
https:// www. nam. gov. mm/ Archi ves. aspx
Nepal: National Archives of Nepal
http:// narch ives. gov. np
North Korea: State Bureau of Archives Democratic People’s Republic of Korea
No working webpage
No Facebook account
Oman: National Records and Archive Authority
https:// nraa. gov. om/? lang= en
Pakistan: National Archives of Pakistan
https:// archi ves. gov. pk
Palestine: Palestine National Archives
No working webpage
No Facebook account
Philippines: National Archives of the Philippines
https:// natio nalar chives. gov. ph/
Qatar: Qatar National Archive
https:// www. qnl. qa/ en
Saudi Arabia: National Center for Documentation and Archives
https:// www. my. gov. sa/ wps/ portal/ snp/ agenc ies/ agenc yDeta ils/ AC063/ !ut/p/ z0/ 04_ Sj9CP ykssy 0xPLM 

nMz0v MAfIj o8ziv QIsTA wdDQz 9LQwN zQwCn S0tXP wMvYw NDAz0 g1Pz9 L30o_ ArApp iVOTr 
7JuuH 1WQWJ Khm5m Xlq8f 4ehsY GasX5 DtHg4 AWLbF zg!!/

Singapore: National Archives of Singapore
https:// corpo rate. nas. gov. sg
South Korea: National Archives of Korea
http:// www. archi ves. go. kr/ engli sh/ index. jsp

http://www.archives.go.jp/index.html
http://www.nl.gov.jo/
https://www.ulttykarhiv.kz/en/
http://archive.kg/
https://archives.gov.mv/en
https://www.nam.gov.mm/Archives.aspx
http://narchives.gov.np
https://nraa.gov.om/?lang=en
https://archives.gov.pk
https://nationalarchives.gov.ph/
https://www.qnl.qa/en
https://www.my.gov.sa/wps/portal/snp/agencies/agencyDetails/AC063/!ut/p/z0/04_Sj9CPykssy0xPLMnMz0vMAfIjo8zivQIsTAwdDQz9LQwNzQwCnS0tXPwMvYwNDAz0g1Pz9L30o_ArAppiVOTr7JuuH1WQWJKhm5mXlq8f4ehsYGasX5DtHg4AWLbFzg!!/
https://www.my.gov.sa/wps/portal/snp/agencies/agencyDetails/AC063/!ut/p/z0/04_Sj9CPykssy0xPLMnMz0vMAfIjo8zivQIsTAwdDQz9LQwNzQwCnS0tXPwMvYwNDAz0g1Pz9L30o_ArAppiVOTr7JuuH1WQWJKhm5mXlq8f4ehsYGasX5DtHg4AWLbFzg!!/
https://www.my.gov.sa/wps/portal/snp/agencies/agencyDetails/AC063/!ut/p/z0/04_Sj9CPykssy0xPLMnMz0vMAfIjo8zivQIsTAwdDQz9LQwNzQwCnS0tXPwMvYwNDAz0g1Pz9L30o_ArAppiVOTr7JuuH1WQWJKhm5mXlq8f4ehsYGasX5DtHg4AWLbFzg!!/
https://corporate.nas.gov.sg
http://www.archives.go.kr/english/index.jsp
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Sri Lanka: Department of National Archives
http:// www. archi ves. gov. lk/ web/
Syria: Al-Assad National Library and Archives
No working webpage
No Facebook account
Taiwan: National Archives Administration National Development Council
https:// www. archi ves. gov. tw/ engli sh/
Tajikistan: Central Archival Administration of the Government of the Republic of Tajikistan
No working webpage
No Facebook account
Thailand: National Archives of Thailand
https:// www. nat. go. th
Timor-Leste: Arquivo Nacional de Timor-Leste
No working webpage
Facebook: https:// www. faceb ook. com/ Arqui voNac ional TL
Turkmenistan: Türkmenistan Merkezi Döwlet Arşivi
https:// archi ve. gov. tm/ ru
United Arab Emirates: National Archives of the United Arab Emirates
https:// www. na. ae/ en/
Uzbekistan: Agency of the republic of Uzbekistan “Uzarhiv”
http:// www. archi ve. uz
Vietnam: State Records and Archives Department of Vietnam
No working webpage
No statement on Facebook
Yemen: National Center for Archives
No working webpage
No Facebook account

Australia and Oceania 

Australia: National Archives of Australia
https:// www. naa. gov. au
Fiji: National Archives of Fiji
No working webpage
Facebook: https:// www. faceb ook. com/ Natio nalAr chive sOfFi ji
Kiribati: Kiribati National Library and Archives
https:// www. moe. gov. ki/ divis ions/ kirib ati- natio nal- libra ry- and- archi ves
Marshall Islands: Alele Museum, Library, National Archives
https:// www. alele. org
Micronesia: Office of National Archives, Culture, and Historical Preservation
https:// nach. gov. fm/
Nauru
No national archives. No information about archives on the government’s webpage
New Zealand: Archives New Zealand
https:// archi ves. govt. nz
Niue: Tāoga Niue National Archives
https:// taoga niue. nu/ natio nal- archi ves/
Palau: Bureau of Palau National Archives
https:// www. palau gov. pw/ palau- natio nal- archi ve/

http://www.archives.gov.lk/web/
https://www.archives.gov.tw/english/
https://www.nat.go.th
https://www.facebook.com/ArquivoNacionalTL
https://archive.gov.tm/ru
https://www.na.ae/en/
http://www.archive.uz
https://www.naa.gov.au
https://www.facebook.com/NationalArchivesOfFiji
https://www.moe.gov.ki/divisions/kiribati-national-library-and-archives
https://www.alele.org
https://nach.gov.fm/
https://archives.govt.nz
https://taoganiue.nu/national-archives/
https://www.palaugov.pw/palau-national-archive/
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Papua New Guinea: National Archives and Public Records Services of Papua New Guinea
No working webpage
No Facebook account
Samoa: National Archives and Records Authority of Samoa
https:// www. mesc. gov. ws/ our- servi ces/# nara
Solomon Islands: National Archives of Solomon Islands
https:// solom ons. gov. sb/ minis try- of- cultu re- and- touri sm/ natio nal- archi ves/
Tonga: Palace archives of Tonga
No working webpage
No Facebook account
Tuvalu: Tuvalu National Library and Archives
https:// www. tuval uarch ives. tv/
Vanuatu: National Library and National Archives of Vanuatu
No working webpage
Facebook: https:// www. faceb ook. com/ groups/ 15854 02531 608789
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